

Who drives, where, and when? An evaluation of behavioral responses to license-plated based driving restrictions

Erick Guerra (PI) & Ariadna-Reyes (Co-PI) with Andrew Sandweiss and David Park August 2021

A publication of the USDOT Tier 1 Center: Cooperative Mobility for Competitive Megaregions At The University of Texas at Austin

DISCLAIMER: The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the information presented herein. This document is disseminated in the interest of information exchange. The report is funded, partially or entirely, by a grant from the U.S. Department of Transportation's University Transportation Centers Program. However, the U.S. Government assumes no liability for the contents or use thereof.

Technical Report Documentation Page

1. Report No. CM2-52	2. Gover	mment Accession	3. Recipient	t's Catalog No.	
	NO.		ORCID: 0000-0002-7769-2581		
4. Title and Subtitle	4. The and Subline			ate	
Who drives, where, and when?	An evaluat	tion of behavioral	August 2021		
responses to license-plated based	d driving i	estrictions	6. Performin	ng Organization Co	de
7. Author(s)			8. Performin	ng Organization Rej	port No.
Erick Guerra & Ariadna Reyes			CM2-52		
9. Performing Organization Name a	and Addres	SS	10. Work U	nit No. (TRAIS)	
The University of Pennsylvania					
Weitzman School of Design			11 Contrac	t or Grant No	
210 S. 34th St.			II. Collitae	60A3551747135	
Philadelphia, PA 19104			05001	0745551747155	
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and A	Address		13. Type of	Report and Period	Covered
U.S. Department of Transportation	ion		Technica	al Report conducted	July 2019 -
Federal Transit Administration			August 2	2021	
Office of the Assistant Secretary	for Resea	arch and	14. Sponsor	ing Agency Code	
Technology, UTC Program			-		
1200 New Jersey Avenue, SE					
Washington, DC 20590					
15. Supplementary Notes					
Project performed under a grant	from the U	U.S. Department of	Transportatio	n's University Tran	sportation
Center's Program.					
16. Abstract					
 In an effort to manage increasing world, governments have implet examines the effects of these rest the literature on license-plate-basecond-car hypothesis. This hyp to households purchasing second 235 papers that reference licenses second-car hypothesis, generally evidence that the second-car hypothesis group to better understand these exempt vehicle is a popular appr vehicles on the road on weekday be driven by wealthier residents area. 17. Key Words driving restriction; second-car 	g pollutior mented vas trictions a sed drivin othesis po l cars with e-plate- bas v as part of pothesis su draws on a behaviora coach for v vs and Satu during pea	and congestion in a rious types of drivin nd is divided into tw g restrictions with a sits that the policy b different final licen sed driving restriction an appendix or second bstantially reduces t analysis of a large ha l responses to Mexic vealthier households urdays have an exempta hours and in the r 18. Distribution St No restrictions.	cities, regions g restriction p o chapters. T focus on the ackfires and se-plate digit ons, we only f ondary analys he efficacy o ousehold trav co City's Hoy whose memi opt hologram nost congester atement	s, and megaregions a programs. This report he first provides a cademic origins ar leads to increased lo s to avoid the restrict find nine papers that sis. None presents so f license-plate-based rel survey, interview of No Circula. Purch bers driver a lot. Tw type. These vehicle ed, central parts of t	around the ort critical review of nd uses of the ocal pollution due ction. Reviewing t directly test the trong empirical d driving vs, and a focus asing a newer vo-thirds of s are more likely to he metropolitan
hypothesis; license plate restriction; air					
quality; hoy no circula					
10 Security Classif (afrenant) 24	0 Securit	v Classif (of this pa	ne)	21 No of pages	22 Price
Unclassified	Unalass	y Classif. (Of this pa	ge)	21.100.01 pages	22. Flice
orm DOT F 1700.7 (8-72) Reproduc	tion of cor	npleted page author	rized	50	<u> </u>

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8-72) Reproduction of completed page authorized

Acknowledgements

Jing Zhang (UPenn) and Gianna Ferrarin (UPenn) helped process and analyze the household travel survey data.

Table of Contents

Technical Report Documentation Page	1
Acknowledgements	3
Table of Contents	4
Chapter 1. Does Rationing Backfire? A review of the literature	5
1.1 Introduction	5
1.2. Methodology	6
1.3. Origins, diffusion, and use of the second-car hypothesis	8
1.3.1. Diffusion and use of the second-car hypothesis	8
1.3.2. Referencing the second-car hypothesis	9
1.4. Strength of the second-car hypothesis	12
1.4.1 Other evidence for and against the second-car hypothesis	14
1.5. The effect of license-plate-based driving restrictions on pollution and congestion	16
1.5.1. A note on research design and findings	21
1.6. Behavioral responses to license-plate-based driving restrictions	21
1.6.1. Vehicle purchases	23
1.6.2. Travel on restricted days	24
1.6.3. Travel on unrestricted days	25
1.7. Conclusion	. 25
Chapter 2. An evaluation of Mexico City's license-plate-based driving restrictions	28
2.1. Introduction	28
2.2. Research approach	. 30
2.3. Predicting vehicle hologram type	. 31
2.3.1. Data summary	. 31
2.3.2. Predictors of hologram-type	33
2.3.3 Cars on the road by hologram type	36
2.4. Surveys, interviews, and focus group	. 38
2.4.1. Moderate-income car-ownership and use	. 39
2.4.2 Regular drivers	39
2.4.3. Equity implications	41
2.5. Synthesis of findings and conclusion	. 41
References	. 44

Chapter 1. Does Rationing Backfire? A review of the literature

1.1 Introduction

In response to increased urban air pollution and congestion, local and national governments have enacted a variety of programs to limit the amount, location, and type of private vehicles allowed on public roads. License-plate-based driving restrictions, first implemented in cities, such as Mexico City, Santiago, and São Paulo in the 1980s, have experienced a resurgence in popularity after helping reduce Beijing's air pollution in the lead-up to the 2008 Beijing Summer Olympics. These restrictions limit the number of days that vehicles are permitted to circulate in a city or metropolitan area based on the last digit of license plates. For example, Beijing's policy initially restricted automobiles from circulating on alternate days depending on whether the last number of the license plate was even or odd. After the Olympics, regulators adjusted the policy to restrict vehicles from circulating one day per week (L. Wang et al., 2014).

Academic studies examining the effectiveness of license-plate-based driving restrictions in reducing congestion or pollution have produced mixed results. Eskeland and Feyzioglu (1997) and Davis (2008) concluded that Mexico City's *Hoy No Circula* restriction may have even increased pollution by encouraging households to purchase a second, older, and higher polluting car with a different last license-plate digit to avoid the restriction. The notion that license-plate-based restrictions can or do "backfire"—what we henceforth refer to as the second-car hypothesis—has become pervasive throughout the empirical literature, including in studies of Chinese cities where additional public policies may make purchasing a second car difficult. In Beijing, for example, the right to purchase a car requires winning a low-probability lottery.

In addition to purchasing another car that is restricted on different days, drivers have a variety behavioral approaches to avoid the policy, such as adjusting daily or weekly driving schedules, avoiding highly policed areas, or purchasing unrestricted low-emissions vehicles (Gu et al., 2017; Guerra & Millard-Ball, 2017; L. Wang et al., 2014). These behavioral responses may be substantially easier and less burdensome than purchasing a second car, particularly for low- and

moderate-income households. If license-plate-based car restrictions are not working, it is important for regulators to understand why and adjust policies accordingly.

This chapter provides the first systematic literature review of the empirical evidence for and prevalence of the second-car hypothesis in explaining the success or failure of license-plate-based driving restrictions. In doing so, we also provide the first formal review of the literature on license-plate-based driving restrictions more generally. Through this review, we emphasize how policy design, urban context, and behavioral factors likely influence whether and by how much license-plate-based restrictions might reduce driving and associated local pollution. The remainder of the paper is organized as follows. Section 1.2 describes our general approach to selecting, organizing, and summarizing academic papers that discuss license-plate-based restrictions and the second-car hypothesis. Section 1.3 traces the hypothesis' origins, diffusion, and use in the academic literature. Section 1.4 focuses on the empirical evidence supporting or contradicting the second-car hypothesis. Section 1.5 summarizes findings about the relationship between license-plate-based restrictions and local pollution. Section 1.6 provides a theoretical framework for how different behavioral responses to license-plate-based restrictions affect pollution and congestion and provides evidence from the literature on the nature and scale of these responses. The final section concludes with a summary of the results and key takeaways for researchers and policymakers.

1.2. Methodology

We take two overlapping approaches to identifying and selecting the studies reviewed in this paper. First, we begin with two seminal papers that present, test, and discuss the second-car hypothesis (Davis, 2008; Eskeland & Feyzioglu, 1997) and trace all of the papers citing them using *Google Scholar* and The University of Pennsylvania's online academic search system *Franklin*. Through this process, we identify 198 different references to Eskeland and Feyzioglu (1997) and 592 references to Davis (2008). We then exclude papers that do not reference the two seminal papers in the context of driving restrictions or have not undergone peer review. As an example, we exclude Carson (2010) because it cites Davis (2008) only as an example of someone investigating existing pollution mitigation strategies, with no reference to license-plate based restrictions. This filtering reduces the total number of citations to 117. We next conduct a general keyword search of any

peer-reviewed papers that refer to "license plate restrictions" or "driving restrictions". After excluding papers referring to different types of driving restrictions, this process adds another 118 papers to our database.

Table 1.1 provides a summary of the 235 papers included in our review. In total, we identify 145 peer-reviewed papers that mention the second-car hypothesis and another 90 papers that mention license-plate-based restrictions but do not reference the second-car hypothesis. Most papers (152) only briefly mention license-plate restriction programs, generally to describe contextual conditions or provide an example of a general policy to influence driving or vehicle purchases. For example, Zhang et al. (2020) list exemptions from license-plate based restrictions as one of several possible policies to encourage the adoption of automated vehicles.

 Table 1.1 Total papers reviewed by focus on license-plate-based restrictions and reference to the second-car hypothesis

Paper category	References second-car hypothesis	Does not reference second-car hypothesis	Total
Briefly mentions license-plate			
restriction programs	94	58	152
Examines effects of license- plate restriction on congestion or pollution	37	3	40
Simulation or examines effects on vehicle purchases, crime, or another outcome	14	29	43
Total	145	90	235

Of the remaining 83 papers, 40 provide empirically estimates of the effects of license-plate-based restrictions on pollution or congestion. We exclude simulations from this category since the findings depend on the simulation inputs. For example, Pu el al.'s (2015) finding that Hangzhou's license-plate based restrictions reduced vehicle travel and pollution by 7% to 10% depends on the assumption that the policy reduced driving by 20% in the restricted zone at restricted times of day. The final category of papers includes simulations and papers studying the effects of restrictions on some other outcome, such as crime, transit use, or vehicle purchases. We discuss both categories of papers in greater detail in section 1.4 and section 1.5.

1.3. Origins, diffusion, and use of the second-car hypothesis

Eskeland and Feyzioglu (1997) provide the first peer-reviewed empirical study of Mexico City's license-plate based car restriction Hoy No Circula. Creating a predictive model of aggregate gasoline consumption prior to the policy and applying the model to data after the policy's enactment, Eskeland and Feyzioglu (1997) find that gasoline consumption increased significantly more after the policy than their model would have predicted. The authors attribute this increase to the second-car hypothesis. Two earlier working papers use similar language to discuss the likely effects of Hoy No Circula (Eskeland, 1992; Levinson & Shetty, 1992). Neither working paper provides empirical evidence to support the claim. Levinson and Shetty (1992) summarizes pollution-restriction programs in several cities and states that Hoy No Circula had "backfired....with families having purchased second cars, usually older and dirtier, rather than face time on Mexico City's crowded public transit system (Levinson & Shetty, 1992, p. 32)." Eskeland (1992) presents a similarly worded assertion and argues that a gasoline tax would be more efficient than a licenseplate-based restriction. Between 1997 and 2007, two peer-reviewed papers cite Eskeland and Feyzioglu (1997) as evidence that second-car purchases make license-plate-based driving restrictions ineffective and share the same lead author (Eskeland et al., 1998; Eskeland & Xie, 1998).

Davis (2008), the second foundational paper, is the first to formally test and find evidence in support of the second-car hypothesis. The focus of the paper is a series of regression discontinuity designs examining whether local pollutants increased or decreased after *Hoy No Circula* was implemented in Mexico City. To explain why pollution did not decrease and possibly increased, the study also examines shifts in metro system use and second-hand car purchases. Presenting a regression discontinuity design on annual car sales, Davis (2008) concludes that *Hoy No Circula* led to a statistically significant uptick in car sales.

1.3.1. Diffusion and use of the second-car hypothesis

Starting in 2008, the number of papers citing the second-car hypothesis increases sharply (Figure 1.1). This increase likely corresponds to Davis (2008) but also to Beijing's implementation of a

restriction policy in the lead-up to the 2008 Summer Olympics and the spread of license-platebased restriction policies to a variety of additional Chinese cities. Of the total 145 peer-reviewed studies that reference the second-car hypothesis, 19 cite Eskeland and Feyzioglu (1997), 48 cite Davis (2008), and 42 cite both. Another 36 papers cite neither, but cover similar topics, refer to the same cities, and use similar language of backfiring when referencing the second-car hypothesis. Several studies cite a 2014 Guardian article (Mathiesen, 2014) about license-plate-based restrictions as evidence of a policy backfire (L. Li et al., 2020; Tan et al., 2017).



Figure 1.1 Cumulative total number of peer-reviewed publications referencing the second-car hypothesis and seminal papers from 1995 to 2020.

1.3.2. Referencing the second-car hypothesis

The 145 academic papers that discuss the second-car hypothesis examine a variety of geographies (Figure 2) and topics. The vast majority (141) examine some type of environmental regulation. About a third (51) study restriction policies directly and are mostly based in Latin America or China. Mexico City and Beijing's programs have received particular academic attention.



Figure 1.2 Geographical distribution of papers referencing the second-car hypothesis by focus on license-plate based restrictions. Papers with multiple study cities are counted multiple times.

The remaining two-thirds (94 papers) are from all over the world and cover a wide range of research topics, including travel credits (X. Wang et al., 2012), car lotteries (Yang et al., 2014), and subway expansion (S. Li et al., 2019). Four papers do not discuss environmental policies at all. For example, Durango (2011) focuses on identifying the areas of Bogota and Medellin most impacted by traffic congestion and potential congestion mitigation strategies. Matlock et al. (2019), thematically the least related to driving restrictions, examine ways to provide public-health communications about Valley Fever, a fungal respiratory disease, in central California.

Across studies, the second-car hypothesis is frequently referenced to describe a failed environmental policy or to discuss the risk of a policy having unintended consequences. Most (94) reference the second-car hypothesis in their introduction, literature, or background sections to motivate the study under consideration. Most treat the second-car hypothesis as an established fact. For example, Parry (2012) references the second-car hypothesis to dismiss license-plate-based driving restrictions as a potential congestion-mitigation strategy and to help motivate the importance of GPS-based congestion charges. Matlock et al. (2019, p. 11) reference the second- car hypothesis as a caveat about a public-health policy centered on identifying high-risk Valley Fever days and communicating these to the public: "An unintended consequence of a Valley Fever

'bad day' could involve individuals conducting risky behaviors on a 'good day' that still falls within the Valley Fever exposure season."

Twenty-one additional papers use terms, such as backfiring, counterproductive, or unintended consequences when discussing the second-car hypothesis in relationship to environmental regulation. For example, Jakob (2017, p. 97) discusses Ecuador's policies to reduce greenhouse-gas emissions and uses the license plate-based driving restriction as "...a salient example of a policy that is relevant to climate change..." but one that is "...unlikely to achieve its goal and might even result in exacerbating the problem it intends to address."

Although the existing literature tends to frame the second-car hypothesis as a universal phenomenon, most papers (80) reference Mexico City's policy specifically. Even the term backfiring has a direct connection to Eskeland and Feyzioglu's (1997) paper title. Moreover, studies that do not mention Mexico City directly often reference findings from Mexico City. Of the papers that cite neither Eskeland and Feyzioglu (1997) nor Davis (2008), twelve mention *Hoy No Circula* or Mexico City when discussing the second-car hypothesis. Nevertheless, the existing literature uses the second-car hypothesis to discuss a variety of environmental policies in cities and countries throughout the globe (Figure 2).

Papers that examine the effects of license-plate-based driving restrictions reference the second-car hypothesis for a wider range of reasons, such as explaining null results (Ye, 2017), describing why findings might differ across places (Gu et al., 2017; Xie et al., 2017), motivating a specific research design (Gu et al., 2017; Guerra & Millard-Ball, 2017), or explaining why short-run and long-run policy effects might differ (Ma & He, 2016; M. Xu et al., 2017). For example, Ma and He (2016) consider the second-car purchases a policy adaptation that could make pollution worse in the long run despite initial improvements. Most, however, simply present the second-car hypothesis as an established fact or typical finding in the paper introduction or literature review. Xiao et al. (2019, p. 299), for example, reference Eskeland and Feyzioglu (1997) before attributing an increase in Beijing's private vehicle fleet to "…the fact that some consumers purchased additional cars to circumvent the driving restriction policy."

1.4. Strength of the second-car hypothesis

For all its prominence in the academic literature and popular press, the second-car hypothesis remains lightly studied and has relatively weak empirical support. Just nine studies formally test whether license-plate-based restrictions increase second car purchases. These empirical tests produce mixed results and are generally included in appendices or supplementary materials rather than in a position of central interest. Moreover, the original papers examining the second-car hypothesis do not present strong weak evidence in its support. In revisiting this evidence, we do not intend to criticize the authors or their papers. Eskeland and Feyzioglu (1997) produced the seminal academic paper on license-plate-based driving restrictions and Davis (2008) wrote the most cited and likely best-regarded paper on license-plate-based driving restrictions. Instead, we intend to demonstrate the weaknesses of the second-car hypothesis' foundations before reviewing more recent empirical evidence. While some households may indeed purchase a second car in response to restriction policies, there is little to suggest that this causes the policies to backfire.

Eskeland and Feyzioglu (1997) present the second-car hypothesis as a way to explain a statistically significant increase in fuel expenditures in the years immediately after *Hoy No Circula*. The authors test this explanation by developing a household-level model of car purchases. Strikingly, the authors find that although some households would likely purchase a second car to avoid the policy, "a somewhat greater number of households would want to reduce their number of cars (Eskeland & Feyzioglu, 1997, p. 400)." The authors dismiss these empirical findings, however, with an observation that aggregate used car sales increased in Mexico City after *Hoy No Circula* and an anecdotal assertion that "...most observers believe that the opposite occurred (Eskeland & Feyzioglu, 1997, p. 393)." The initial finding that fuel expenditures increased due to *Hoy No Circula* is also relatively weak. The research design relies on the assumption that differences in fuel expenditures are entirely attributable to *Hoy No Circula*. The policy's implementation, however, coincides with the end of a nearly decade-long recession that had substantially reduced household income and almost certainly reduced car purchases and household driving. The only economic controls in the model of fuel expenditures are the quarterly number of international phone calls, which is used as a proxy for household prosperity. Davis (2008, p. 64) conducts a

similar test of gasoline sales using a regression discontinuity design and concludes that *Hoy No Circula* is associated with, "a small and statistically insignificant change in gasoline sales." Employing another series of regression discontinuity designs, Davis (2008, p. 68) reports that *Hoy No Circula* is associated with an increase in the number of registered vehicles that "is statistically significant at the 1 percent level." The analysis, however, includes only 30 data points that overlap with multiple additional exogenous shocks, such as a major recession and a redesign of the policy to exempt cars with catalytic converters. Moreover, a shifting linear trend in increased vehicle sales (Davis, 2008, fig. 9, 2008, fig. 10) begins in 1986, three years prior to *Hoy No Circula*.

To test whether the reported results depend on the specification, we download the INEGI data on vehicle sales and re-estimate models of vehicle sales in Mexico City, other nearby states, and the entire country (Table 1.2.) For convenience, we report the original parameter estimates (Davis 2008, Table 10), which differ slightly from our own estimates, likely due to INEGI making minor revisions to the 2004 and 2005 data. We choose to present the model with the fifth order polynomial time trend. The fourth and sixth order time trends produce consistent results.

	Parameter	Estimates	Standard errors		
Geography	Davis (2008)	Re-Estimate	Unadjusted	Newey West ¹	Bootstrapped ²
Mexico City	0.189	0.198	0.097.	0.094*	0.147
Mexico State	NA	0.220	0.225	0.233	0.986
Aguascalientes	NA	0.186	0.063**	0.050**	0.186
Puebla	NA	0.160	0.105	0.081.	0.160
Queretaro	NA	0.166	0.088.	0.078.	0.146
Country	NA	0.164	0.035***	0.076*	0.131

Table 1.2 Regression discontinuity estimates of the relationship between Hoy No Circula and annual vehicle registrations (natural log) using a 5th order polynomial time trend

Notes: Significance codes '***' 0.001 '**' 0.01 '*' 0.05 '.' 0.1; ¹Newey West standard errors apply one-year lag. ² Bootstrapped standard errors estimated over 50,000 iterations.

These robustness checks indicate that increased vehicle sales in Mexico City are not related to *Hoy No Circula*. First, *Hoy No Circula* appears to have had a similarly sized effect on vehicle registrations in Mexico City as it did throughout the country and in multiple states without license-plate based restrictions. In the case of Aguas Calientes, Queretaro, Puebla, and the country, the parameter estimates are statistically different from zero at the 10 percent level when applying

Newey West standard errors. By contrast, vehicle registrations do not appear to increase in Mexico State, much of which is subject to *Hoy No Circula*. Second, the confidence level of 1 reported in the paper is likely a typo and should be a confidence level of 10 (Davis 2008, Table 10). The Newey West correction for serial correlation, moreover, decreases rather than increases the size of the standard errors. Using bootstrapping to account for the random ways that other exogenous shocks might drive the findings, the standard errors increase substantially. Third, reducing the sample to an equal number of years before and after the discontinuity does not produce statistically significant results at the 10 percent level for Mexico City using any of the reported higher order polynomial time trends. Thus, although the study provides the first empirical evidence supporting the second-car hypothesis, the evidence is not strong. In an updated analysis that examines a shift in the restrictions to apply on Saturdays, Davis (2017) makes no mention of second-car purchases.

1.4.1 Other evidence for and against the second-car hypothesis

Four additional studies test the second-car hypothesis by comparing shifts in aggregate total or used vehicle sales before and after the policy implementation. Although all but one of these studies find modest increases in registrations, these studies also rely on time-series data with few observations immediately before and after policy implementation. As with Davis (2008), Bonilla (2019) observes a modest increase in used vehicle sales after the tightening of Bogota's license plate restriction and concludes that the study provides mild evidence that the new policy increased used vehicle sales. Gallego et al. (2013) and Chen et al. (2020) provide additional spatial controls and find modest, statistically significant increases in car sales and registrations in Santiago and eleven Chinese cites with restrictions relative to other Chilean and Chinese municipalities and cities without restrictions. Guerra and Millard-Ball (2017) include controls for other Mexican metropolitan areas and conclude that vehicle registrations in metropolitan Mexico City's increased no more quickly than in the rest of Mexico.

Five papers, including Eskeland and Feyzioglu (1997), rely on household-level data and generally find a weak relationship between the policy and household's second car purchases. For example, Guerra and Millard-Ball (2017) find that households with a restricted vehicle are no more likely to own a second car than similar households with a similarly aged but unrestricted vehicle. Gu et

al. (2017) look at the travel behavior of households with one restricted and one unrestricted car compared to households with two unrestricted cars. Although the data sample is small, it appears that these households with one restricted car increase the share of trips by car as one household member picks up and drops off others.

Barahona et al. (2020) report that although more households own cars in Santiago than the rest of Chile, higher incomes and household structure explain this difference, not the car-restriction policy. Moncada et al. (2018) employ a similar methodology to look at changes in households' probability of purchasing a second vehicle in Bogota and Villavicencio, Colombia, using household travel surveys from 1996 and 2011 in Bogota and 2008 and 2012 in Villavicencio. Including controls for working age adults, children, household motorcycles, and inconsistent linear income categories, the authors find a 20% increase in the probability of purchasing an additional vehicle for residents of Bogota relative to residents of Villavicencio. Despite comparing a capital city of 7.5 million residents to a city of 500,000 at different time periods, the authors attribute the entirety of this 20% increase to Bogota's 1998 restriction policy and the policy's tightening a decade later.

In addition to the empirical analyses, Gu et al. (2017), Guerra and Millard-Ball (2017), and Barahona (2020) also describe the small share of households that potentially avoid the policy through the second-car hypothesis. In Beijing, only 2.2% of households own more than one car (Gu et al., 2017). In Mexico City, only 1.2% of households own at least two cars that are both likely to be subject to the driving restriction (Guerra & Millard-Ball, 2017). In Santiago, less than 5% of households own more than one car and many own newer, exempt vehicles (Barahona et al., 2020). Although Moncada et al. (2018) do not present statistics on their dependent variable, just 3.3% of households reported having two or more cars or pickups on Bogota's 2011 household travel survey (Secretaría Distrital de Movilidad de Bogotá, 2013). In all three cities, most households with two or more cars are wealthy and would likely own two or more cars to avoid the policy, the second-car hypothesis is unlikely to be the most prominent cause of restriction programs' outcome.

1.5. The effect of license-plate-based driving restrictions on pollution and congestion

This section summarizes the results of the 40 papers that examine the effects of license-plate based driving restrictions on pollution and congestion. The second-car hypothesis originated to explain findings that Mexico City's *Hoy No Circula* increased gasoline consumption (Eskeland & Feyzioglu, 1997) and failed to reduce pollution (Davis, 2008). Thus, whether license-plate-based restrictions increase or decrease pollution is essential to the theoretical and empirical importance of the second-car hypothesis. Better understanding the range of findings about the relationship between license-plate-based driving restrictions, congestion, and pollutions is also of general academic and policy interest.

Across the papers reviewed, we find a wide range of results. Twenty papers report that licenseplate-based driving restrictions decreased pollution or congestion, nine find no effect or an inverse effect, and eleven present mixed results (Table 1.3). In addition to the wide range of findings, the papers use a variety of research approaches in places with differently designed policies to examine a variety of outcomes. We discuss these differing outcomes and designs throughout this section and the next.

Publication	Location	Main research approach	Main findings
Studies finding licen	se-plate based i	restrictions reduced pollution or congestion	
Viard and Fu (2015)	Beijing	Before and after (odd-even and one-day per week) examination of daily air quality index and hourly television viewership (regression discontinuity design)	Reduced pollution and increased television viewership (assumption related to less time spent commuting)
Y. Liu et al. (2016)	Beijing	Before and after (odd-even and one-day per week) examination of daily air quality index and	Reduced pollution and hospital
		hospitalizations (regression discontinuity design)	admissions
X. Lu (2016)	Beijing	Before and after examination of reducing policy hours and later increasing penalty for violations on air quality index (regression discontinuity	Strengthening the policy associated with improved air quality. Weakening the policy associated with reduced air
		design)	quality
Gu et al. (2017)	Beijing	Compares household behaviour on restricted days to household behaviour on unrestricted days using travel diaries	Decreased car trips on restricted days
Q. Liu et al. (2017)	Beijing	Compares daily hospital admission for respiratory issues on high restriction and low-restriction days using #4 death license-plate (roughly 14% instead of 21% banned)	Reduced hospital admissions on days with more cars banned

Table 1.3 Summary findings of 40 papers examining the results of license-plate-based driving

rest	rict	tions

W. Zhang et al. (2017)	Beijing	Examine unique subway card data to identify users that only use the subway on one consistent day per week, assume these switched from driving due to policy, and estimate pollution reduction from removing trip	A small shift in trips from private cars to metro (0.12%) with a corresponding decrease in CO2 emissions
Zhong et al. (2017)	Beijing	Compares daily/hourly air quality index, traffic congestion index, and daily ambulance call data using "death" plate to compare high and low restriction days	Lower pollution, congestion, and hospital admissions on days with more vehicles banned
Yang et al. (2018)	Beijing	Compares daily public transit use, taxi use, and congestion using "death" plate to compare high	Reduced congestion and increased taxi and transit use on days with more
S. Chen, Qin, et al. (2020)	Beijing	and low restriction days Examines shift in traffic congestion index using #4 death plate design by geography and compares to	restricted vehicles Finds that traffic congestion index increases by 0.5 to 0.7 on days with
		shifts in travel speeds.	fewer cars restricted.
Z. Liu and Kong (2021)	Beijing	Compares differences in changes in air pollution index on weekdays and weekends in Beijing relative to Tianjin using a differences-in- differences approach.	Finds a 3%-5% reduction in pollution from the license-plate policy with another 8% to 12% reduction attributable to other policies.
Rajabov et al. (2020)	Beijing	Compares multiple particulates using "death"	Finds reductions in AQI, PM2.5, PM10,
Yang et al. (2020)	Beijing	Examines shift in vehicle density using #4 death plate design by geography and compares to shifts in travel speeds	Statistically significant increase in vehicle density and decrease in travel speeds on days when fewer cars are restricted. Effects most pronounced in central locations
B. Zhang et al. (2020)	Beijing	Compares household mode choice at restricted unrestricted hours on weekdays and weekends using travel diaries	Residents traveling at restricted hours less likely to use a car relative to differences between the same time periods on unrestricted weekends
M. Zhang et al.	Beijing,	Before and after examination of daily air quality	Modest air quality improvement in both
(2020)	Tianjin	index (regression discontinuity design)	cities
Rao et al. (2017)	Delhi	Intercept survey asking respondents about effects of restriction on current and recalled travel behaviour	Increased speeds, shorter travel times, and shift from cars to transit
Mishra et al. (2019)	Delhi	ComparesPM1.0 and PM2.5 on six days during temporary odd-even restriction to three days in weeks preceding restriction on three major arterials.	Particulate matter decreased by an average of 5% on arterials during restricted hours
Han et al. (2020)	Jinan	Compares daily CO, PM10, and mortality rates before and after temporary restrictions	Reduction in CO (46.6%), PM10 (33.1%), and morality (0.313 per million people per percent of PM10)
Z. Liu et al. (2018)	Langfang	Before and after (every other day vs. one day per week) comparison of non-compliance, travel speed, and traffic volumes by space and time-of-	Traffic speeds increased with more frequent restriction
Carrillo et al. (2016)	Quito	Before and after examination of hourly CO in restricted zones and times relative to unrestricted times and zones	Improved air quality at restricted times and locations
Barahona et al. (2020)	Santiago	Compares the share of high-polluting vehicles in the fleet in Santiago relative to other municipalities over time (regression discontinuity design)	Santiago has significantly fewer older cars without catalytic converters and these emit less pollution on average
Studies with negativ	e or null findings		
L. Wang et al. (2014)	Beijing	Compares residents' mode choice on days when household vehicle is restricted using travel diaries	No significant change in probability of traveling by car instead of transit, bike,
Xiao et al. (2019)	Beijing	Before and after examination of daily air quality	No evidence of improved air quality

Bonilla (2019)	Bogota	Before and after examination of two phases (peak hours only and 6am-8pm restrictions) on	No evidence of improved air quality
		hourly CO (regression discontinuity design)	
S. Chen, Zheng, et al. (2020)	Chinese cities (11)	Before and after comparison of annual PM10 and car registrations in eleven cities with restrictions	Air quality worsened and car registrations increased in cities with
		compared to 100 without restrictions	restrictions

Ye (2017)	Lanzhou	Before and after examination of hourly air quality index (regression discontinuity design)	No evidence of improved air quality. Some evidence of worsened air quality
Eskeland and Feyzioglu (1997)	Mexico City	Before and after comparison of quarterly gasoline consumption	Increased gasoline consumption
Davis (2008)	Mexico City	Before and after examination of hourly, daily, and weekly air quality (regression discontinuity design)	No evidence of improved air quality. Some evidence of worsened air quality
Davis (2017)	Mexico City	Before and after examination of policy change to include Saturday restrictions on air quality	No evidence of improved air quality
		(regression discontinuity design)	
Guerra and Millard-Ball (2017)	Mexico City	Compares the daily vehicle travel of households with a single banned car that of similar households with a single car that is likely exempt by vehicle age using travel diaries	No evidence of reduced driving from households with a banned car
Studies with mixed f	indings		
Sun et al. (2014)	Beijing	Compares peak travel speeds and daily PM10 using "death" plate to compare high and low restriction days	Traffic speeds increased on days with more restricted vehicles, but no air quality improvement
Ma and He (2016)	Beijing	Before and after examination of hourly air quality index	Air quality improved in short run but worsened in the long run
Xie et al. (2017)	Beijing	Before and after examination of daily air quality	Air quality improved in short run but not
		index	in the long run
W. Zhang et al. (2017)	Bogota	Before and after examination of hourly air quality measures (regression discontinuity design)	Decrease in NO but increases in NO2, NOx, and O3.
		Compares change in PM2.5 over time relative to	No evidence of reduced pollution across
Z. Chen et al. (2021)	Chinese cities (15)	158 control cities using a differences-in- differences approach with propensity score matching.	the full sample but variation in results across regions and city types with an 11% reduction in air pollution outside of
			provincial capitals.
Chowdhury et al. (2017)	Delhi	Compares satellite-based PM2.5 estimates during a 15-day odd-even restriction to time-periods immediately before and after the restriction.	Reduces PM2.5 by 4% to 6%, which is within the 10% uncertainty range of the satellite-based estimates and therefore a null finding.
Mohan et al. (2017)	Delhi	Compares PM2.5, traffic speeds, and congestion measures immediately before, during and after implementation of two-week odd-even scheme	Car volumes reduced by 7% to 19% but increase in exempt auto rickshaws, two- wheelers, and buses. Speeds up around 5% on average and no measurable
			change in pollution.
Joshi et al. (2020)	Delhi	Compares PM2.5 measures immediately before and after implementation of odd-even scheme	Pollution decreased immediately after policy implementation with a subsequent increase, likely due to forest fires.
Huang et al. (2017)	Lanzhou	Before and after examination of hourly air quality	Air quality improved in short run but not in the long run
		measures (regression discontinuity design)	
Gallego et al. (2013)	Mexico City, Santiago	Betore and after examination of daily air quality measures (regression discontinuity design) with municipal comparison groups in Chile but not Mexico	Air quality improved in short run but worsened within a year
de Grange and		Before and after examination of long-term policy	Long-term policy of excluding cars with catalytic converters not associated with reduction in driving. Short-term
Troncoso (2011)	Santiago	and short-term emergency measures on hourly vehicle flows and daily transit ridership	emergency measures extending the ban to all vehicles associated with reduced driving and increased metro use

For the twenty papers with positive findings, the most common research design is to examine

measures of air quality from air quality monitoring stations before and after policy implementation while controlling for other temporal predictors of pollution, such as the weather and time-of-day. Regression discontinuity designs, with the year or month of policy implementation identified as the discontinuity, are particularly common. Several papers include additional control groups. For example, Carrillo et al. (2016) use a differences-in-differences approach instead of a discontinuity design and conclude that Quito's license-plate based restrictions reduced carbon emissions by 9% to 11% during peak traffic hours from monitoring stations within the restriction zone compared to monitoring stations outside of the zone. Z. Liu and Kong (2021) use a differences-in-differences approach comparing Beijing to Tianjin to try to net out the effect of the license-plate-based restrictions from other policies to reduce local pollution. The authors conclude that this approach leads to a smaller estimated reduction in pollution than Viard and Fu's (2015) estimates. While both studies find a 15% to 20% reduction in Beijing's local pollution, Z. Liu and Kong (2021) only attribute the license-plate-based restriction with a 3% to 5% reduction in pollution.

The next most common research approach relies on a location-specific aversion to license-plates ending in the number 4, which is associated with the Chinese word for death. On days that restrict the numbers 4 and 9 from circulating, Yang et al. (2018) report that just 14% of Beijing's cars are banned compared to 20% to 22% on other days. Days with fewer restricted vehicles are associated with a 3% to 20% increase in ambulance calls for heart and fever-related symptoms, 22% higher congestion, and 12% higher daily NO2 concentrations (Zhong et al., 2017). The "death" plate method has recently also been used as an exogenous instrument to tease out causal relationships between congestion and travel speed (Yang et al., 2020) and congestion and pollution (S. Chen, Qin, et al., 2020). Other general approaches include comparing household-level travel behavior on banned days (Gu et al., 2017), at banned times of day (B. Zhang et al., 2020), and before and after the policy (A. M. Rao et al., 2017).

The nine papers that produce null or inverse findings use similar methodological approaches. The majority employ a before-and-after approach, generally a regression discontinuity design. Several also include additional controls using a differences-in-differences approach instead of a discontinuity design. For example, S. Chen, Zheng et al. (2020) find that pollution, car registrations, and pollution per car increased rather than decreased in eleven Chinese cities with license-plate based driving restrictions compared to 100 cities without restrictions. Two papers use household-level survey data. Guerra and Millard Ball (2017) find no substantial drop in vehicle travel for households with just one banned car compared to households with a similarly aged car that is eligible to be exempted from the policy after passing a tailpipe emissions check. L. Wang

et al. (2014) use a similar approach to Gu et al. (2017) but do not find a statistically significant change in the probability of traveling by car on days when Beijing's residents are banned from driving.

The eleven papers with mixed results also generally use regression discontinuity designs or similar approaches to examine air quality before and after policy implementation. The most common mixed finding is that air quality improved immediately after the policy intervention but not in the long run (Gallego et al., 2013; Huang et al., 2017; Ma & He, 2016; Xie et al., 2017). However, the timing of restriction policies often coincides with other, sometimes substantial, temporal changes that are also likely associated with pollution and congestion. Claims about long-run influences of driving restrictions are not well-suited to regression discontinuity designs. The further the pollution data move from the days, weeks, and months immediately before or after policy implementation, the less likely that differences in pollution have anything to do with driving restrictions.

Several studies find improvements along one dimension but not along another. For example, Sun et al. (2014) employ the "death" plate design and find increased traffic speeds but no change in emissions on days with more restricted vehicles. Types of pollutants may also matter. W. Zhang et al. (2017) use a regression discontinuity design on pollutants in Bogota and find the policy associated with decreases in NO but increases in NO2, NOX, and O3. Rajabov et al. (2020) find Beijing's policy associated with statistically significant decreases in most pollutants and an overall air quality index but not in O3. Total pollution likely also matters. For example, Chowdhury et al. (2017) find Delhi's policy reduces PM2.5 by 4% to 6%, but that this is within the 10% uncertainty of the satellite-based estimates and therefore a null finding. However, Mohan et al. (2017) report that cars contribute just 5% of Delhi's total PM2.5 and these reductions are offset by increases in unrestricted auto rickshaws, motorized two-wheelers and taxis. A recent study of Covid-19 restrictions across 325 Chinese cities finds that lockdowns reduce overall pollution by 12% relative to the cities without lockdowns, but that differences vary substantially by pollutant (M. Wang et al., 2021). For example, PM2.5 and PM10 decreased by 13% to 15%, but SO2, NO2, and CO only decreased by 3% to 4%.

Other researchers find different relationships across different types of policies. For example, de Grange and Troncoso (2011) find that Santiago's long-term policy, which excludes cars with catalytic converters, had no impact on the use of private cars, but that short-term emergency bans that extended the policy to all vehicles reduced car use by 5.5% and increased Metro use by 3%. Z. Liu et al. (2018) find that a tightening of Langfang's restrictions increased overall travel speeds, while Davis (2017) finds that extending the restriction policy to weekends as well as weekdays did not reduce local pollutants in Mexico City. Several recent studies examine the effects of a two-week temporary odd-even restriction in Delhi by comparing several days of direct measurements of traffic and pollution during the restriction compared to measurements before and after the restriction (Chowdhury et al., 2017; Joshi et al., 2016; Mishra et al., 2019; Mohan et al., 2017). These studies produce mixed findings, but generally rely on only a few data points.

1.5.1. A note on research design and findings

We do not exclude any peer-reviewed papers that examine license-plate based restrictions based on research design. Although there is a range in research quality, we do not see a systematic difference in positive, negative, or null findings across studies with strong or weak designs. We do, however, generally find that studies from Beijing conclude that the policy reduced pollution and congestion, whereas studies from Mexico City do not. Studies from other geographies produce mixed results or do not have a large enough sample of papers to draw conclusions. In addition to differences in outcome measures and research design, variations in policy design, enforcement, and other local conditions likely influence the efficacy of license-plate-based driving restrictions.

1.6. Behavioral responses to license-plate-based driving restrictions

Figure 1.3 presents a diagrammatic summary of the interrelated ways that vehicle purchase decisions and travel behavior on restricted and unrestricted days are likely to influence the effects of licenseplate-based driving restrictions on pollution and congestion. For example, households that have a single restricted car may respond to the policy by switching modes, driving during unrestricted hours, violating the policy, or shuffling trips to other days. Some households might respond by choosing not to purchase a car or, depending on local context, purchasing a low- polluting exempt vehicle. This section summarizes academic findings about how households respond to driving restrictions through vehicle purchases and travel behavior on restricted and unrestricted days. We emphasize how these decisions relate to overall pollution and congestion. We also identify and highlight gaps in the existing literature and opportunities for future research.



enforcement

enforcement

Figure 1.3. License-plate-based restrictions' relationships to vehicle purchase decisions, travel behavior, congestion, and pollution

1.6.1. Vehicle purchases

In addition to reducing the number of days residents drive their cars, license-plate-based driving restrictions likely influence vehicle purchase decisions. We already discuss the purchase of additional cars to avoid the policy and find mixed evidence. Household members might also respond by choosing not to own a car or purchasing specific types of vehicles that are exempt from the driving restrictions.

If a substantial number of households choose not to purchase cars or shed them, this would likely reduce metropolitan congestion and pollution. Using a contingent evaluation approach Blackman et al. (2018) estimate that *Hoy No Circula* reduces cars' average annual value by about \$130 per year. If cars are worth less, then residents are less likely to buy them. Based on this reduction in value, Eskeland and Feyzioglu (1997) estimate that about 8% of car-owning households would sell their cars in response to *Hoy No Circula*. Given its potential importance and car ownership rates in places like Mexico City and Beijing, there is surprisingly little research into the role that driving restrictions might play in reducing the probability of buying a car.

Vehicle exemption policies likely also play an important role. In Mexico City, for example, the policy changed to exempt cars with catalytic converters in 1996 and has since undergone several substantial changes. By 2017, most cars on the road in metropolitan Mexico City were exempt from general travel restrictions (INEGI, 2017). Comparing the age of the vehicle fleet across municipalities, Barahona et al. (2020) conclude that Santiago's vehicle exemptions reduced the share of older and high-polluting vehicles relative to other similarly wealthy municipalities. Chinese cities that exempt electric vehicles from driving restrictions have also seen a substantial increase in electric vehicle sales (Diao et al., 2016; T. Lu et al., 2020; Y. Rao, 2020; N. Wang et al., 2017). Given the importance of vehicle exemptions on purchases, there is a need for additional research into how exemptions shape travel behavior. For example, exemptions likely reduce average pollution per mile travelled, but also encourage additional travel in newer vehicles with lower operating costs. There may also be important spatial and socioeconomic impacts. Only relatively wealthy households are likely to view purchasing a new, low-emission vehicle as a possible response to driving restrictions.

1.6.2. Travel on restricted days

For households without exempt cars, there are multiple potential responses to car travel on restricted travel days. Perhaps the most studied response is switching modes. As with general findings about congestion and pollution, the evidence is mixed. In Mexico City, neither Davis (2008) nor Guerra and Millard-Ball (2017) find evidence of increased transit or taxi use. Others observe statistically significant increases in transit and taxi use in Delhi (Mohan et al., 2017) and Beijing (Gu et al., 2017; Yang et al., 2018). L. Zhang et al. (2019) find that transit use increased after policy implementation in some but not all six Chinese cities and attribute these differences to differences in policy implementation. Cheng et al. (2020) conclude that taxi use increased most in wealthier areas with worse transit in Xi'An. Other general findings include increased home values near transit (Y. Xu et al., 2015), a small increase in shared electric bike use (Campbell et al., 2017).

In addition to influencing mode choice, license-plate restrictions might encourage drivers to avoid taking trips, shuffle trips to unrestricted hours, or shuffle trips to unrestricted days. Avoiding taking trips is relatively understudied, but Gu et al. (2017) find no evidence of reduced trip-making in Beijing. Shuffling trips outside of restricted hours appears to occur in some cities but is likely a niche approach. In most cities with license-plate restrictions, only a small fraction of trips occurs outside of restricted hours. During Santiago's emergency restrictions, de Grange and Troncoso (2011) identify a statistically significant 3.5% increase in traffic during the hours prior to the ban. In Bogota, W. Zhang et al. (2017) observe an increase in NO2 in hours during both restricted and unrestricted hours, but a decrease in NO only during restricted hours. By contrast, Carrillo et al. (2016) conclude that Quito's decreased pollution is not offset by increases in pollution at unrestricted hours or unrestricted geographies. Similarly, neither Gu et al. (2017) nor Guerra and Millard-Ball (2017) find a statistically significant shift in driving outside of restricted hours using household travel data. Since most non-exempt cars are only used two-to-three weekdays per week, Guerra and Millard-Ball (2017) conclude that shuffling car trips from a restricted day to an unrestricted day is a particularly easy behavioral response to driving restrictions.

Finally, many households may respond to travel bans by cheating. Although some authors assume near universal policy compliance (Davis, 2008, 2017), most studies suggest that there is substantial

non-compliance with driving restrictions (Guerra & Millard-Ball, 2017; Z. Liu et al., 2018, 2020; Mohan et al., 2017; L. Wang et al., 2014). For example, L. Wang et al. (2014) find that nearly half of regulated car owners violated the restriction rules in metropolitan Beijing and that violations are more likely to occur during peak hours, on social trips, and on trips outside of the city center. In an exception, Viard and Fu (2015) report high rates of compliance based on license-plate data from a centrally located parking garage in Beijing. Central locations, however, are where the policies are most likely to be enforced (Guerra & Millard-Ball, 2017; L. Wang et al., 2014).

1.6.3. Travel on unrestricted days

Most unrestricted travel behavior relates directly to restricted travel behavior. For example, if someone cheats or shuffles trips to times immediately before the travel ban, driving behavior on unrestricted days is likely unaffected. If travel is shifted to unrestricted days, by contrast, driving would tend to increase on those days. Shifts in travel behavior, however, could also have larger network effects. For example, if traffic decreases due to the policy, the resultant decrease in congestion would likely attract new drivers due to latent demand. Researchers have observed that increased driving tends to quickly fill and congest new highway investments and road expansions (Cervero & Hansen, 2002; Downs, 1992, 2004; Duranton & Turner, 2011).

1.7. Conclusion

In this paper, we reviewed the academic origins, uses, and empirical findings about the second-car hypothesis. While the hypothesis has disseminated widely and offers a compelling and digestible narrative about why license-plate based restrictions do not work, this assertion rests on shaky empirical grounds. Across studies, we find weak evidence of the second-car hypothesis playing more than a minor role in the many behavioral responses to license-plate-based restrictions. Very few households own more than one car in cities with license-plate-based driving restrictions. Those with multiple cars tend to be wealthy and are likely to have owned and driven multiple cars regardless of the policy. As a result, adjusting a specific policy to address second-car purchases will likely not do much to change the policy's ability to reduce local congestion and pollution. There are many other simpler and less expensive ways to avoid or adjust to the policy than purchasing a second car.

We also find a substantially divided literature in terms of whether and where license-plate-based restrictions reduce pollution or congestion. Half of the studies reviewed find that the restrictions reduce pollution or congestion. A quarter find no effect or an inverse effect. A quarter present mixed results, such as short-term reductions with no long-term effect. While differences in findings likely relate to differences in research approach and outcome measurement, policy design and behavioral responses also play a role. Better understanding the behavioral responses to car bans is critical to understanding whether and why restriction policies work.

We conclude with three main takeaways for researchers and policymakers. First, researchers and policymakers should not expect to find anything close to a 20% reduction in pollution or congestion from banning a fifth of vehicles from the road. In the most studied cities, like Beijing and Mexico City, many vehicles are exempt from the policy. Behavioral responses, such as cheating or shuffling car trips to unrestricted hours and unrestricted days, will also reduce policy effectiveness. In addition, private cars only represent a share of the total traffic on the street and traffic only produces a share of total local pollution. These shares, moreover, vary by pollutant, city, and neighborhoods within cities.

Second, based on the complex and interrelated behavioral responses to license-plate-based driving restrictions, researchers and policymakers should focus evaluation on the correct ecological unit, the household. Most existing studies, which rely on aggregate pollution and congestion data, are poorly suited to understanding how driving restrictions work or fail to work. There is also a notable lack of qualitative research, such as interviews and focus groups, to provide insight into the multiple ways that residents respond to and potentially avoid driving restrictions. While additional study into the second-car hypothesis may be warranted, researchers should focus on other behavioral responses. Whether and to what extent households choose not to purchase a car is particularly understudied and potentially important. The overall effects of vehicle exemptions on pollution and congestion are also poorly understood.

Third and finally, license-plate-based restrictions have a wide variety of implementation and enforcement strategies. As such, findings from one context may translate poorly to another. Mexico City and Santiago's policies, for example, exempt newer vehicles with lower emissions and may influence air pollution by changing the composition of the vehicle fleet. Existing research designs, which generally focus on the immediate moments before and after policy-implementation, would not capture these effects. Similarly, Beijing's car lottery, enforcement policies, and recent exemptions for electric vehicles make it a substantially different context from Delhi and the Latin American cities where other studies into license-plate-based restrictions have been conducted. In order to better understand the limitations and potential benefits of driving restrictions, policymakers and researchers should focus on specific behavioral responses to specific policies.

Chapter 2. An evaluation of Mexico City's license-platebased driving restrictions

2.1. Introduction

This chapter combines data from a large household travel survey (INEGI, 2017), interviews in moderate-income neighborhoods, and a focus group with moderate-income drivers to better understand different socioeconomic groups' behavioral responses to Mexico City's *Hoy No Circula* driving restrictions. When first implemented at the end of 1989, *Hoy No Circula* banned all private cars—excluding public transportation and state-owned vehicles—from circulating in Mexico City and surrounding municipalities of Mexico State for one weekday per week from 5am to 10pm. By 1997, the law provided exemptions for lower-polluting vehicles with catalytic converters. Two years later, exemptions extended to any vehicle under two years old with vehicles between 2 and 9 years old eligible for exemption after undergoing and passing an emissions test. Residents display stickers with hologram numbers associated with differing exemptions from the policy. At the time of our study, local authorities issued four hologram types with varying restrictions on weekdays, Saturdays, and during temporary pollution-emergency days. Survey respondents report these government-issued hologram numbers on the 2017 household travel survey.

Although the policy is relatively well studied (Davis, 2008, 2017; Eskeland & Feyzioglu, 1997; Guerra & Millard-Ball, 2017), little is known about how vehicle exemptions influence travel behavior, pollution, or congestion. There is also disagreement on policy compliance and how residents shift behavior on restricted and unrestricted days of travel. Eskeland and Feyzioglu (1997) and Davis (2008) assume that residents comply with the policy but purchase additional secondhand cars that increase the total amount of driving and pollution. Guerra and Millard-Ball (2017) find evidence of non-compliance and conclude that residents have substantial opportunities to avoid the policy through smaller and more affordable behavioral adjustments than purchasing a second car. Of note, households with older restricted vehicles tend to use them only a couple of days a week, leaving ample room to shuffle car trips away from restricted days. Moreover, only 3% of households own two or more non-exempt vehicles. Qualitative research into how lower-

income residents respond to and perceive license-plate-based driving restrictions is particularly lacking.

The remainder of this chapter is organized as follows. First, we briefly summarize the literature on behavioral responses to license-plate-based driving restrictions. Next, we present an overview and justification for our mixed quantitative and qualitative research approaches and findings. Predicting hologram type on the road based on geographic and socioeconomic variables, we find that two-thirds of vehicles on the road have an exempt hologram type. These vehicles are more likely to be driven by wealthier residents during peak hours and in the most congested, central parts of the metropolitan area. Those driving non-exempt vehicles are statistically significantly more likely to be poorer, live in suburban areas, own one or fewer cars, and drive shorter trips in less restricted parts of the metropolitan area. To better understand the behavior of these residents of households with non-exempt vehicles, we also draw on community-level household surveys and a focus group in three inner suburban areas of metropolitan Mexico City. Car owners here generally have just one non-exempt car. Most of them rely on transit for daily trips, such as commuting to work, and tend to use their cars for family outings and irregular shopping trips. Of the subset of regular drivers, some report avoiding car bans by carpooling or switching their driving routines to non-restricted hours. Others drive during restricted hours but avoid highly policed arterials and downtown locations. Many report other avoidance practices, such as bribing a technician to pass an emissions test or swapping license plates, to avoid restrictions. Although aware of the implications of driving for air pollution and supportive of the policy's intentions to improve air quality and public health, focus group participants expressed frustration about a policy that primarily restricts poorer residents who drive the least but exempts wealthier motorists who drive the most.

Last, we conclude with a synthesis of the findings and a discussion of areas for future research. Based on our analysis, *Hoy No Circula* keeps a maximum of 8% of vehicles off the road on a given day. Given the high reported rates of policy violation, the actual share of vehicles kept off the road is likely much smaller. If vehicles contribute around 50% of local pollutants, the maximum possible reduction from *Hoy No Circula* is only 4%, a far cry from aspirations of reducing a fifth of local pollution.

2.2. Research approach

Figure 2.1 summarizes the three interconnected approaches we take to examining behavioral responses to *Hoy No Circula*. Our first approach relies on 31,167 car trips reported from the metropolitan Mexico City household travel survey (INEGI 2017) to predict whether the vehicle has an exempt or non-exempt hologram type as a function of driver characteristics, household location, and trip characteristics. This quantitative analysis provides a general overview of who drives, where, when, and what type of vehicle throughout the metropolitan area. The second approach draws on surveys and interviews of household members in two suburban communities that have close to average car ownership rates and income levels to examine the travel behavior of typical metropolitan residents. Most respondents do not own cars. Most car-owners, moreover, report driving infrequently and relying primarily on transit and walking instead. Finally, we conduct a focus group with regular suburban drivers about their responses to and perceptions of *Hoy No Circula*. Together these surveys, interviews, and focus group provide a nuanced perspective of how drivers without exempt vehicles avoid, adapt, and violate car bans as part of their daily routines. For narrative clarity, we elaborate on our quantitative and qualitative research methods and findings in separate sections.



Figure 2.1 Overlapping research approaches to investigate responses to Hoy No Circula

2.3. Predicting vehicle hologram type

We use the 2017 household travel survey from the Mexico City metropolitan area to generate estimates of the total number of cars on the road by hologram type at different times of day. In addition to providing details on the travel behavior, socioeconomic, and demographic characteristics of metropolitan residents, respondents report vehicles' hologram type, which indicates whether the car can circulate freely, may be subject to a ban at a given time of day, or is restricted from driving at the time of travel. At the dates of the survey, hologram types "0" and "00" are exempt from all restrictions, whereas hologram types "1" and "2" are restricted from driving between 5am and 10pm on one weekday per week. Hologram "1" is further restricted from driving one Saturday per month from 5am to 10pm. Hologram "2" is restricted from driving on any Saturday from 5am to 10pm.

After removing a randomly determined 20% of households from the dataset for testing purposes, we develop predictive models of whether a car on the road at a given time on a weekday has either an exempt hologram ("0" or "00") or a non-exempt hologram ("1" or "2") type. To avoid double counting vehicles, we only use vehicle trips reported by the vehicle driver. We also estimate the same model for Saturday trips, as well as a model that predicts whether a vehicle is potentially restricted on Saturdays (hologram "1") or definitely restricted (hologram "2"). Our final reported multilevel logit models include random intercepts to account for unobserved variations in enforcement and behavior by municipality and clustered bootstrapped standard errors to account for correlations across trips by household members and individual residents. Finally, we extrapolate from our estimates using the sample data to generate estimates of the total number of vehicles circulating by hologram type by time of day, as well as by municipal origin-destination pairs.

2.3.1. Data summary

Table2.1 provides summary details on the variables used to predict hologram type, the theory behind including this predictor variable, and whether a variable was dropped due to statistical insignificance. These dropped variables include dummy variables for trip starting time, a dummy

variable indicating whether a trip is taken just outside of restricted hours, municipal crime rates, municipal median income, and employment type. We also combined the levels of factor variables to reduce dimensionality when the levels were not statistically different with greater than 95% confidence. For example, we found that various levels of trip duration above and below the reported 25-minute threshold did not produce statistically different parameter estimate.

Level	Variable	Level/Summary	Share/info
		00	25.8%
		0	38.4%
Dependent variable	Hologram type	1	22.4%
		2	5.4%
		NA	7.9%
	Gender	Male	71.8%
	Δα	mean	44.47
	- Mgc	std.	13.01
Driver level		Less than secondary (and NA)	21.2%
	Educational	High School	23.5%
		Bachelor's or higher	55.3%
	Employed Status	Employed	83.3%
		1	5.9%
	Household size	2	16.4%
		3	21.8%
		4+	55.9%
		Lowest & second	32.4%
Household level	Socioeconomic status	Third & fourth	34.4%
		Highest	33.2%
		0	4.9%
	Number of cars in	1	61.1%
	household	2	25.5%
		3+	8.5%
	Metropolitan	Federal District (not downtown)	34.0%
	geography involved	Downtown	32.4%
	in trip origin or	Restricted parts of suburbs	29.2%
Trip level	destination	Unrestricted parts of suburbs	4.4%
		Home, School, Other	70.5%
	Destination	Office	14.3%
		Factory	2.8%

Table 2.1 Descriptive statistics of car trips taken in metropolitan Mexico City reported on the2017 household travel survey

		Shop or commercial center	12.4%
	Trip duration	<=25min	33.5%
	Distance to	mean	11.23
Municipal level	downtown (mile)	std.	6.37
	Home municipality	75 municipal levels	-

Several additional variables drop below statistical significance at the 95% confidence level after bootstrapping standard errors. We elect to keep these variables in the final reported models. The reported summary statistics for the predictor variables exclude all trips with unreported hologram types and that are not in the 80% household sample that we use to estimate the models. We include the full dataset for the summary of hologram types.

Driving trips in the Mexico City metropolitan area are disproportionately taken by employed men with relatively high educational attainment levels in households with relatively high socioeconomic status and a single car. The majority are driving a newer car with a "0" or "00" hologram, which indicates that a car can circulate freely during all hours of the day, except during emergency air quality days. A little over a quarter of circulating household vehicles have a hologram type "1" or "2" with another 8% of drivers not reporting the vehicle hologram type. Two-thirds of all trips originate or end within the Federal District of Mexico City and just over a third of car trips originate or end in the four most central municipalities, which we group together as downtown.

2.3.2. Predictors of hologram-type

Table 2.2 presents the results of three multilevel logistic regressions predicting circulating vehicles' hologram types by trip, as reported on the 2017 household travel survey, on a weekday or Saturday. Model 1 predicts whether a weekday driver has a hologram type that is restricted one weekday per week and one or all Saturdays per month relative to one that is unrestricted. Model 2 makes the same prediction for Saturday drivers, while Model 3 compares drivers with a hologram that is restricted on all Saturdays to those restricted one Saturday per month.

In general, wealthier employed drivers with high educational attainment in smaller households are statistically likelier to be driving exempt vehicles on weekdays and Saturdays. Although 80% of drivers on the road are men, women are relatively more likely to be driving exempt vehicles. Older

drivers are also more likely to drive an unrestricted car. We tested a quadratic term to see if this trend diminished with age, but the result was not statistically significant. Finally, drivers from households with multiple cars are most likely to be driving exempt cars, suggesting that most car trips by members of households with multiple cars have nothing to do with individuals purchasing second cars to avoid *Hoy No Circula*. Even including controls for education and socioeconomic status, having just one car is statistically associated with having a non-exempt car.

	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
	Weekday	Saturday	Saturday
	Holog	ram types predicted	
Variables	1 & 2 vs 0 & 00	1&2 vs 0 & 00	2 vs 1
Gender: Male	0.340***	0.309***	0.066
	(0.033)	(0.046)	(0.109)
Age / 10	-0.249*	-0.650***	0.350
	(0.112)	(0.138)	(0.281)
Highest educational attainment			
High school	-0.417***	-0.425***	-0.366***
	(0.037)	(0.044)	(0.083)
Bachelor's or higher	-1.004***	-1.081***	-0.685***
	(0.037)	(0.045)	(0.095)
Employed	-0.072+	-0.229***	0.035
	(0.039)	(0.051)	(0.106)
Socioeconomic status			
Third or fourth	-0.296***	-0.270***	-0.173*
	(0.034)	(0.042)	(0.087)
Highest	-0.747***	-0.754***	-0.458***
	(0.043)	(0.053)	(0.138)
Household size			
Two	0.190**	0.200*	-0.265
	(0.071)	(0.086)	(0.182)
Three	0.260***	0.376***	-0.399*
	(0.069)	(0.083)	(0.171)
Four plus	0.413***	0.424***	-0.318*
	(0.065)	(0.079)	(0.160)
Number of cars in household			
One	0.187**	0.232***	0.327*
	(0.058)	(0.067)	(0.129)

Table 2.2 Binomial logit model predicting vehicle hologram type with multilevel random intercepts for home municipality

Two	-0.222***	-0.329***	0.030
	(0.064)	(0.077)	(0.162)
Three plus	-0.541***	-0.455***	-0.073
	(0.083)	(0.103)	(0.258)
Trip destination			
Office	-0.169***	-0.112	-0.134
	(0.039)	(0.070)	(0.166)
Factory	0.233***	0.295**	-0.235
	(0.069)	(0.097)	(0.170)
Shop or commercial center	0.188***	0.107*	-0.014
	(0.045)	(0.044)	(0.084)
Trip duration: 25m or less	0.111***	-0.013	0.128+
	(0.031)	(0.036)	(0.072)
Trip distance (miles/10)	0.299***	0.260***	0.589***
	(0.062)	(0.064)	(0.124)
Metropolitan geography involved in trip origin or destination			
Downtown	-0.240***	-0.085	-0.129
	(0.041)	(0.052)	(0.127)
Restricted parts of suburbs	0.183***	0.216***	-0.122
	(0.047)	(0.058)	(0.114)
Unrestricted parts of suburbs	0.267**	0.643***	-0.053
	(0.101)	(0.116)	(0.193)
Constant	-0.766***	-0.479**	-1.961***
	<u>(0.155)</u>	(0.173)	(0.356)
Observations	31,167	19,900	6,408
Log Likelihood	-16,566.62	-10,853.74	-2,942.51
Akaike Inf. Crit.	33,179.25	21,753.48	5,931.03
Bayesian Inf. Crit.	33,371.23	21,935.15	6,086.63

Note: + p<0.1; *p<0.05; ** p<0.01; *** p<0.001; household-clustered bootstrapped standard errors in parentheses.

In terms of trip characteristics, trips to offices are much likelier to be made in exempt vehicles, while shopping trips and trips to factories are relatively more likely to be in non-exempt vehicles. Longer distance trips are more likely to be in older, potentially restricted cars, but short-duration trips of 25 minutes or less are also associated with non-exempt holograms. This may relate to the ease of avoiding the restriction for short neighborhood trips but also the longer distance trips taken in the less-regulated suburbs and outside of the metropolitan area. Looking at the origins and destinations of trips, those that start or end in the most central and most policed parts of the city are most likely to be taken in exempt vehicles. Trips that occur entirely in the municipalities that

fall outside of the policy restriction area are most likely to be taken in vehicles without exempt hologram types.

Model 3 provides some additional insight into differences between the trips made in the oldest, most polluting vehicles with a "2" hologram and newer, but still regulated vehicles with a "1" hologram. These trips are even more likely to be taken by less educated, poorer drivers with just one household vehicle and smaller household sizes. The only statistically different trip-related parameter estimate at the 95% confidence level relates to longer distance trips, suggesting that the 5% of Saturday trips that violate the policy have a fair amount in common with the 23% of trips that are only restricted one Saturday per month. At the very least, these trips are more like each other than trips taken by vehicles with exempt hologram types.

2.3.3 Cars on the road by hologram type

Based on Models 1 and 2 in Table 2.2, we predict and extrapolate the total number of household vehicles on the road in metropolitan Mexico City during a 24-hour weekday and Saturday by hologram type (Figure 2.2). At all times of day, there are more exempt vehicles on the road than non-exempt vehicles. These exempt vehicles are more concentrated during the morning and afternoon peaks. They are also more spatially concentrated in the downtown and the wealthier western half of the metropolis. Non-exempt vehicle travel is more concentrated in the suburbs, periphery, and the poorer northeastern parts of the metropolis. Exempt vehicles represent 69% of all private household vehicles on the road during restricted weekday hours, 65% during unrestricted weekday hours, 68% during restricted Saturday hours, and 63% during unrestricted Saturday hours.



Figure 2.2 Household vehicle fleet on the road by hologram type and time of day in metropolitan Mexico City

In addition to the measures of fit presented in Table 2.2, we conducted several additional tests of predictive accuracy. Applying the models to the 20% of households set aside for testing purposes, our weekday model has an overall accuracy of 75% (64.3% true negatives, 17.9% false negatives, 6.7% false positives, and 12.5% true positives) and the Saturday model has an overall accuracy of 75% (63.0% true negatives, 17.6% false negatives, 7.7% false positives, and 13.1% true positives). We also aggregated the predicted and actual hologram types of car trips to the home municipality of the 20% of unsampled households. Comparing the predicted values to the actual values, we find correlations of over 0.99 for the total number of holograms by type and around 0.74 for the share of holograms by type. Comparing holograms by the origin and destination of trips, as opposed to household location, reduces the correlations for hologram share to around 0.64.

Taken together these findings paint a vivid picture of socioeconomic and geographic conditions of car travel and its relationship to *Hoy No Circula* in metropolitan Mexico City. Relatively wealthy drivers, who are exempt from the policy, make most metropolitan car trips and tend to concentrate trips during peak hours in the most central and congested parts of the city. Relatively poor drivers are much more likely to be subject to the policy and live and drive in suburban parts of the metropolitan area.

2.4. Surveys, interviews, and focus group

To better understand the behavior of these suburban drivers, we draw on household-level surveys of 301 commuters and in-depth interviews with 25 drivers. These surveys provide a community-level understanding of travel behavior and underscore differences across two archetypal middle-income neighborhoods: Isidro Fabela, an inner suburban neighborhood with relatively good transit access in Mexico City, and Los Alamos, a peripheral community in the State of Mexico. Here, our findings emphasize the behavior of households that generally either do not have a car or own a single non-exempt car. We supplement survey findings with a focus group of twelve regular drivers in the peripheral municipality of Tultitlán, State of Mexico, conducted on August 4th, 2019. These focus group respondents generally own a single car. Unlike most owners of a single non-exempt vehicle, however, they use their car as the primary form of transportation. We organized the 120-minute-discussion around how car bans influence participants' travel behavior. Participants elaborated on the numerous legal and illegal strategies that they and others employ to access work and other daily activities on restricted travel days. Focus group also discussed perceptions of fairness and overall policy effectiveness.

Table 2.3 compares survey and focus group neighborhoods' car-ownership rates, distance from downtown, and share of workers in the informal sector with metropolitan Mexico City. Isidro Fabela and Tultitlán have typical car-ownership rates, while car ownership is lower in Los Alamos. Informal employment is particularly high in Isidro Fabela, which has easier access to central commercial parts of the metropolitan area.

Characteristics	Isidro Fabela,	Los Alamos,	Tultitlan, State of	Metropolitan
	Tlalpan, Mexico	Chalco, State of	Mexico	Mexico City
	City	Mexico		
Car Ownership	38%	25%	42%	40%
Informal workers	68%	52%	58%	57%
Distance to Mexico	18 km	44 km	43 km	NA
City's city center				

Table 2.3. Selected neighborhood characteristics for qualitative study locations

1. Source: Authors with information from INEGI (2010)

2.4.1. Moderate-income car-ownership and use

The household surveys provide insight into the behavior of typical moderate-income residents in inner-suburban and peripheral neighborhoods. Most survey respondents in Isidro Fabela, Los Alamos, and Tultitlán do not own a car. As one respondent put it, "Buying a new car is particularly expensive for low-income families. We must invest many (or most) of our family resources to buy a modest car and properly maintain it, so it passes the emission testing." Of the 35% that own a car, 74% have a restricted hologram type—generally a hologram type "1." Most car owners, however, indicated that *Hoy No Circula* did not have much effect on their driving routines since they did not drive regularly. As one interviewee stated, "I barely use my old vehicle (Volkswagen). Driving is expensive for me, and I avoid driving as much as possible." Most survey respondents reported walking for daily shopping and school trips. The most reported use of a personal car was to visit other family members, often on the weekend. Only a quarter of car owners (10% of total respondents) use their vehicle frequently and commute to work with it.

2.4.2 Regular drivers

This 10% of interviewees and the focus group participants provide insight into the behavior of regular drivers living in three typical moderate-income suburban municipalities. While these drivers may not be representative of most moderate-income car owners, they drive their cars substantially more. As one resident of Los Alamos, "My car improves my quality of life as I drive to get everywhere." Of the focus group drivers, 17% own an exempt vehicle. The remaining 83% have a car that is restricted at least one weekday per week and one or more Saturdays per week. *Hoy No Circula* affects these participants substantially more than most metropolitan residents, who either have an exempt vehicle or no vehicle. Interviewees and focus group participants reported a wide range of behavioral responses to the restriction policy. These included intended responses (e.g., switching to transit), unintended responses (e.g., shuffling trips outside of restricted hours), and illegal behaviors (e.g., driving despite restrictions and bribing police). While *Hoy No Circula* makes driving more difficult, participants reported preferring driving to transit due to speed, convenience, and safety. Many also mentioned cost, which is frequently lower than transit when traveling short distances with multiple family members or coworkers.

In terms of intended program responses, several regular drivers described shifting modes and carpooling on days when their vehicle is banned from circulating. For example, one regular commuter noted that, "Although I cannot entirely agree with car bans, I comply because I cannot afford expensive environmental sanctions. I have adjusted my commute routine to follow car bans. I drive to my factory job except on Wednesdays during restrictions when I switch to public transportation." Other participants carpool to drop kids to school during restricted days of the week.

Regular drivers also employ unintended behavioral responses that adhere to the policy restrictions but are unlikely to lead to reduced pollution. Notably, drivers shuffle car trips to unrestricted days or times of day. At times, this is relatively simple. For example, one participant noted that: "Car bans do not affect me on Saturdays because I do not need to drive to my factory job. I wait until Sunday to do my family's food shopping or other activities with my family." Others, however, pay a steep time cost to avoid enforcement, particularly if they need to drive to centrally located parts of Mexico City. Small business owners appear to bear the brunt of these costs. One interviewee, for example, already carpools with his boss to their car repair shop in Mexico City. On restricted days, they leave at 3:30 am and do not begin the long drive home to Tultitlán until after 10pm. Similarly, a local musician reported driving his restricted truck at 3 am to arrive at his job in Mexico City before 5 am and waiting after 10pm to return home. Another unintended response is to purchase a second car. One small business owner bought a second car for 20 thousand Mexican pesos (around 1,000 USD) and alternates driving the two cars to run his business. It is an expensive approach to avoid the restriction but relates directly to his business' ability to generate income.

Finally, nearly every interviewee and focus group participant discussed cheating at length. The most common approach is to avoid the highly policed arterials of Mexico City and stick to smaller local roads in the State of Mexico. As one interviewee from Los Alamos stated, "I use my car to drive everywhere because I mostly travel locally within Chalco. When my vehicle is restricted, I use inner streets that have less police monitoring. I would not go to Mexico City; there are many transit police officers there." If caught, moreover, bribes to local police are substantially less expensive and time-consuming than the environmental sanction. "In the unlikely event that a transit police officer catches us driving during restricted hours, we may ask a pardon by explaining

that we only drive locally. In some instances, we may negotiate a bribe with police officers." Residents also discussed paying bribes to repair technicians to pass emissions tests, obtaining exemptions through trade unions, and even swapping license plates on the same car.

2.4.3. Equity implications

Issues of unfairness permeated discussions about Hoy No Circula with regular drivers. Many also questioned whether the policy was effective and expressed concerns about persistent peak pollution episodes and rising traffic congestion. One participant lamented that "Hoy No Circula is an ineffective policy to reduce air pollution because it exempts many cars. Wealthy drivers pay their permits to pollute and drive a lot." Another complained that the policy did little to affect the wealthy households most responsible for congestion: "Even if all cars became fuel-efficient, hybrid or electric, roads will still be overcrowded and occupied by wealthy motorists that drive a lot to conduct almost any activity." Another responded, "Look at the highways, most vehicles have zero or double zero stickers. Upper-income residents are not affected by car bans because they own multiple cars. Look at high-income families, the parents and the kids have their respective vehicles. The vehicle fleet has grown excessively in the past two decades because families own multiple cars." Views on fairness also affected residents' reported willingness to cheat the policy: "Low-income workers drive to work and make a living for their families. Policymakers need to understand that modest workers drive for necessity. We know that old cars pollute more, but we cannot afford to replace our vehicles constantly." The connection between fairness and cheating was frequently tied to a right and need to work: "My ten-year-old car does not trigger congestion if I drive within my municipality. Our contribution to congestion and pollution is not as significant as the harm they produce on our everyday commutes. We need to find ways to avoid car bans to work and make a living."

2.5. Synthesis of findings and conclusion

In this paper, we draw on quantitative and qualitative analyses to explore how metropolitan residents respond to Mexico City's license-plate-based travel restrictions through vehicles purchases and travel behavior on restricted and unrestricted days. Our findings point to three primary responses that make it unlikely for *Hoy No Circula* to produce anything close to the 20%

reduction in pollution or congestion that policymakers have hoped to achieve. The most common behavioral response is for wealthier households to purchase an exempt vehicle. Of the 40% of households with one or more cars, nearly 60% report having one or more exempt vehicles. These households tend to be wealthier, have more cars, and drive them much more than households with non-exempt vehicles. During restricted weekday hours, seven in ten private vehicles on the road are exempt. These vehicles, moreover, are more likely to be driven in the most congested parts of the city at the most congested times of day. While vehicle exemptions for newer cars almost certainly increase total driving and congestion, it is unclear whether the modernization of the vehicle fleet has produced a net reduction in local pollution. This depends on whether the reduced emissions per kilometer of travel offsets the increased travel and any network effects related to congestion. Future research could shed light on the mitigation potential of vehicle upgrading and increased car driving to mitigate air pollution and greenhouse gas emissions.

The second primary behavioral response applies largely to the 15% of households that have a single non-exempt vehicle. Just 53% of these one-car households reported making a driving trip on the metropolitan household travel survey. While it is not possible to determine which of these are regular or irregular drivers, most households with a single restricted car use it infrequently. Similarly, suburban survey respondents and interviewees reported generally leaving their cars at home, especially on long trips to Mexico City. Suburban driving in non-exempt vehicles is particularly popular for family recreational and shopping trips, where carpooling already plays an important role in keeping transportation costs down irrespective of *Hoy No Circula*.

The third primary approach that we find is a suite of behavioral responses employed by the small share of drivers who own and regularly use a non-exempt vehicle. In a full-compliance scenario with no irregular drivers or unintended policy responses, we estimate that *Hoy No Circula* keeps a maximum of 8% of vehicles off the road on a given weekday (a quarter of the 31% of non-exempt cars.) The true share is likely substantially lower. Many car trips in non-exempt vehicles are taken by irregular drivers who can shuffle trips easily without reducing how much they drive each week. Moreover, shifting car trips to unrestricted times, buying additional cars, and cheating would all reduce *Hoy No Circula*'s effectiveness. Driving on local roads in areas with limited police presence appears to be a particularly popular approach. When caught, focus group

participants report being able to talk their way out of the fine or pay a bribe to avoid sanctions. In total, only a small fraction of metropolitan drivers appears to adjust their behavior through the desired mechanisms of reducing their driving. As one focus group participant put it, "Wealthier families pay their permits to pollute the air. Most cars circulate daily without any restrictions, while owners of old vehicles find ways to drive their cars."

Hoy No Circula could potentially also reduce pollution and congestion by discouraging car ownership in the first place. Most households in the metropolitan area do not have a car. While the share that chooses not to own a car because of *Hoy No Circula* is likely small, our research design does not provide insight into this behavioral mechanism. Finally, we do not see much evidence that second-car purchases are a common response to *Hoy No Circula*. Only 3% of metropolitan households own multiple non-exempt vehicles.

In addition to demonstrating multiple behavioral responses that limit the policy's ability to keep cars off the road, our analysis provides additional insight into *Hoy No Circula's* spatial and equity impacts. Uneven enforcement has likely resulted in a concentration of exempt vehicles in the central parts of the metropolis. Higher polluting vehicles may also have been pushed toward the side streets of lower-income peripheral neighborhoods. In terms of equity, interviewees and focus group participants made questioned the efficacy and fairness of a program that exempts the wealthier households that drive the most. While the policy does little to harm the poorest commuters, who are least likely to drive, regular drivers with a single restricted vehicle disproportionately bear the burden of *Hoy No Circula*, especially if they live on the periphery and use their car to commute to central, more highly policed parts of the metropolitan area.

While most participants expressed support for environmental policies to improve air quality and public health, regular drivers respond to the policy through a variety of intended, unintended, and illegal ways. Cheating appears to be particularly commonplace on trips outside of central parts of the city. As expressed by participants, many drivers illegally use restricted cars because they need to work and make a living for their families. They perceive that the approach of *Hoy No Circula* that incentivizes replacing relatively old cars with fuel-efficient vehicles is particularly unfair since most households can barely afford the costs of driving a modest vehicle. Unlike congestion

charging, fuel taxes, or registration fees, this approach also fails to generate revenues that can help to compensate lower-income households or invest in alternative transportation modes. Instead, the largest financial beneficiaries of the policy may well be the producers and sellers of new cars.

References

- Barahona, N., Gallego, F. A., & Montero, J.-P. (2020). Vintage-Specific Driving Restrictions. *The Review of Economic Studies*, 87(4), 1646–1682. https://doi.org/10.1093/restud/rdz031
- Blackman, A., Alpízar, F., Carlsson, F., & Planter, M. R. (2018). A Contingent Valuation
 Approach to Estimating Regulatory Costs: Mexico's Day without Driving Program. *Journal of the Association of Environmental and Resource Economists*, 5(3), 607–641.
 https://doi.org/10.1086/697416
- Bonilla, J. A. (2019). The More Stringent, the Better? Rationing Car Use in Bogotá with
 Moderate and Drastic Restrictions. *The World Bank Economic Review*, *33*(2), 516–534.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/wber/lhw053
- Campbell, A. A., Cherry, C. R., Ryerson, M. S., & Yang, X. (2016). Factors influencing the choice of shared bicycles and shared electric bikes in Beijing. *Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies*, 67, 399–414. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trc.2016.03.004
- Carrillo, P. E., Malik, A. S., & Yoo, Y. (2016). Driving restrictions that work? Quito's Pico y
 Placa Program. *Canadian Journal of Economics/Revue Canadienne d'économique*, 49(4), 1536–1568. https://doi.org/10.1111/caje.12243
- Carson, R. T. (2010). The Environmental Kuznets Curve: Seeking Empirical Regularity and Theoretical Structure. *Review of Environmental Economics and Policy*, 4(1), 3–23. https://doi.org/10.1093/reep/rep021

- Cervero, R., & Hansen, M. (2002). Induced travel demand and induced road investment: A simultaneous equation analysis. *Journal of Transport Economics and Policy*, *36*(3), 469– 490.
- Chen, S., Qin, P., Tan-Soo, J.-S., Xu, J., & Yang, J. (2020). An Econometric Approach toward Identifying the Relationship between Vehicular Traffic and Air Quality in Beijing. *Land Economics*, 96(3), 333–348.
- Chen, S., Zheng, X., Yin, H., & Liu, Y. (2020). Did Chinese cities that implemented driving restrictions see reductions in PM10? *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 79, 102208. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2019.102208
- Chen, Z., Zhang, X., & Chen, F. (2021). Have driving restrictions reduced air pollution: Evidence from prefecture-level cities of China. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 28(3), 3106–3120. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11356-020-10664-9
- Cheng, X., Huang, K., Qu, L., Zhang, T., & Li, L. (2020). Effects of Vehicle Restriction Policies on Urban Travel Demand Change from a Built Environment Perspective. *Journal of Advanced Transportation*, 2020, e9848095. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/9848095
- Chowdhury, S., Dey, S., Tripathi, S. N., Beig, G., Mishra, A. K., & Sharma, S. (2017). "Traffic intervention" policy fails to mitigate air pollution in megacity Delhi. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 74, 8–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2017.04.018
- Davis, L. W. (2008). The Effect of Driving Restrictions on Air Quality in Mexico City. Journal of Political Economy, 116(1), 38–81. https://doi.org/10.1086/529398
- Davis, L. W. (2017). Saturday Driving Restrictions Fail to Improve Air Quality in Mexico City. *Scientific Reports*, 7(1), 41652. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep41652

- de Buen Kalman, R. (2021). Can't drive today? The impact of driving restrictions on bikeshare ridership in Mexico City. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, *91*, 102652. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2020.102652
- de Grange, L., & Troncoso, R. (2011). Impacts of vehicle restrictions on urban transport flows: The case of Santiago, Chile. *Transport Policy*, *18*(6), 862–869. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2011.06.001
- Diao, Q., Sun, W., Yuan, X., Li, L., & Zheng, Z. (2016). Life-cycle private-cost-based competitiveness analysis of electric vehicles in China considering the intangible cost of traffic policies. *Applied Energy*, 178, 567–578. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.05.116
- Downs, A. (1992). *Stuck in Traffic: Coping With Peak-Hour Traffic Congestion*. Brookings Institution Press.
- Downs, A. (2004). Still Stuck in Traffic: Coping with Peak-Hour Traffic Congestion (Revised) (Revised). Brookings Institution Press.
- Durango, C. A. M. (2011). Aglomeración económica y congestión vial: Los perjuicios por racionamiento del tráfico vehicular. *Revista del Banco de la República*, 84(1004), 15–70.
- Duranton, G., & Turner, M. A. (2011). The Fundamental Law of Road Congestion: Evidence from US Cities. *The American Economic Review*, 101(6), 2616–2652. https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.101.6.2616
- Eskeland, G. (1992). Attacking air pollution in Mexico City. *Finance and Development*, 29(4), 28.

- Eskeland, G., & Feyzioglu, T. (1997). Rationing Can Backfire: The "Day without a Car" in Mexico City. *The World Bank Economic Review*, *11*(3), 383–408. https://doi.org/10.1093/wber/11.3.383
- Eskeland, G., Jimenez, E., & Liu, L. (1998). Prices that Clear the Air: Energy Use and Pollution in Chile and Indonesia. *The Energy Journal*, *19*(3), 85–106. JSTOR.
- Eskeland, G., & Xie, J. (1998). Acting Globally While Thinking Locally: Is the Global Environment Protected by Transport Emission Control Programs? *Journal of Applied Economics*, 1(2), 385–411. https://doi.org/10.1080/15140326.1998.12040528
- Gallego, F., Montero, J.-P., & Salas, C. (2013). The effect of transport policies on car use: Evidence from Latin American cities. *Journal of Public Economics*, 107, 47–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2013.08.007
- Gu, Y., Deakin, E., & Long, Y. (2017). The effects of driving restrictions on travel behavior evidence from Beijing. *Journal of Urban Economics*, 102, 106–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jue.2017.03.001
- Guerra, E., & Millard-Ball, A. (2017). Getting around a license-plate ban: Behavioral responses to Mexico City's driving restriction. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 55, 113–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2017.06.027
- Han, Q., Liu, Y., & Lu, Z. (2020). Temporary driving restrictions, air pollution, and contemporaneous health: Evidence from China. *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, 84, 103572. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.regsciurbeco.2020.103572
- Huang, H., Fu, D., & Qi, W. (2017). Effect of driving restrictions on air quality in Lanzhou,
 China: Analysis integrated with internet data source. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *142*, 1013–1020. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.09.082

- INEGI. (2017). Encuesta Origen-Destino en Hogares de la Zona Metropolitana del Valle de México 2017. Instituto Nacional de Estadística, Geografía e Informática. https://www.inegi.org.mx/rnm/index.php/catalog/533
- Jakob, M. (2017). Ecuador's climate targets: A credible entry point to a low-carbon economy? Energy for Sustainable Development, 39, 91–100. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esd.2017.04.005
- Joshi, M., Sharma, P. B., Devara, P. C. S., Jain, S., Bali, P., & Alam, M. P. (2016). Air Quality over Delhi NCR during Road Space Rationing Scheme Phase 2: An Observational Study. *International Journal of Environmental Science*, 7, 125–130.
- Levinson, A., & Shetty, S. (1992). Efficient Environmental Regulation: Case Studies of Urban Air Pollution : Los Angeles, Mexico City, Cubatao, and Ankara (No. 942; Policy Research Working Paper Series). World Bank.
- Li, L., Wang, Z., Chen, L., & Wang, Z. (2020). Consumer preferences for battery electric vehicles: A choice experimental survey in China. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 78, 102185. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2019.11.014
- Li, S., Liu, Y., Purevjav, A.-O., & Yang, L. (2019). Does subway expansion improve air quality? Journal of Environmental Economics and Management, 96, 213–235. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2019.05.005

Liu, Q., Huang, J., Guo, B., & Guo, X. (2017). Efficiency of Emission Control Measures on Particulate Matter-Related Health Impacts and Economic Cost during the 2014 Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation Meeting in Beijing. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 14(1). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph14010019

- Liu, Y., Yan, Z., & Dong, C. (2016). Health implications of improved air quality from Beijing's driving restriction policy. *Environmental Pollution (Barking, Essex: 1987)*, 219, 323–328. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2016.10.049
- Liu, Z., & Kong, H. (2021). New Evidence of the Effect of Beijing's Driving Restriction and Other Olympic-Year Policies on Air Pollution. *The B.E. Journal of Economic Analysis & Policy*, 21(1), 241–272. https://doi.org/10.1515/bejeap-2019-0295
- Liu, Z., Li, R., Wang, X. (Cara), & Shang, P. (2020). Noncompliance behavior against vehicle restriction policy: A case study of Langfang, China. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, *132*, 1020–1033. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2020.01.005
- Liu, Z., Li, R., Wang, X., & Shang, P. (2018). Effects of vehicle restriction policies: Analysis using license plate recognition data in Langfang, China. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 118, 89–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2018.09.001
- Lu, T., Yao, E., Jin, F., & Pan, L. (2020). Alternative Incentive Policies against Purchase Subsidy Decrease for Battery Electric Vehicle (BEV) Adoption. *Energies*, 13(7), 1645. https://doi.org/10.3390/en13071645
- Lu, X. (2016). Effectiveness of government enforcement in driving restrictions: A case in Beijing, China. *Environmental Economics and Policy Studies*, 18(1), 63–92. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10018-015-0112-7
- Ma, H., & He, G. (2016). Effects of the Post-Olympics Driving Restrictions on Air Quality in Beijing. *Sustainability*, 8(9), 902. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8090902
- Mathiesen, K. (2014, March 20). Why licence plate bans don't cut smog. *The Guardian*. http://www.theguardian.com/cities/2014/mar/20/licence-plate-driving-bans-paris-ineffective-air-pollution

- Matlock, M., Hopfer, S., & Ogunseitan, O. A. (2019). Communicating Risk for a Climate-Sensitive Disease: A Case Study of Valley Fever in Central California. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(18). https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16183254
- Mishra, R. K., Pandey, A., Pandey, G., & Kumar, A. (2019). The effect of odd-even driving scheme on PM2.5 and PM1.0 emission. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 67, 541–552. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2019.01.005
- Mohan, D., Tiwari, G., Goel, R., & Lahkar, P. (2017). Evaluation of Odd–Even Day Traffic Restriction Experiments in Delhi, India. *Transportation Research Record*, 2627(1), 9–16. https://doi.org/10.3141/2627-02
- Moncada, C. A., Bocarejo, J. P., Escobar, D. A., Moncada, C. A., Bocarejo, J. P., & Escobar, D.
 A. (2018). Impact Assessment on Motorization as a Consequence of Vehicle Restriction
 Policies, Methodological Approach for the case of Bogotá and Villavicencio—Colombia. *Información Tecnológica*, 29(1), 161–170. https://doi.org/10.4067/S071807642018000100161
- Parry, I. W. H. (2012). Reforming the tax system to promote environmental objectives: An application to Mauritius. *Ecological Economics*, 77, 103–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2012.02.014

Pu, Y., Yang, C., Liu, H., Chen, Z., & Chen, A. (2015). Impact of license plate restriction policy on emission reduction in Hangzhou using a bottom-up approach. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 34, 281–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2014.11.007

- Rajabov, B., Liu, L., & Rajabov, J. (2020). Multiple-Factor Influence on Air Quality of Road
 Motor Vehicles Tail Number Limit in Administrative Area of Beijing, China. *Journal of Advanced Transportation*, 2020, e8853180. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/8853180
- Rao, A. M., Madhu, E., & Gupta, K. (2017). Impact of Odd Even Scheme on Transportation Systems in Delhi. *Transportation in Developing Economies*, 3(1), 4. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40890-017-0035-z
- Rao, Y. (2020). New energy vehicles and sustainability of energy development: Construction and application of the Multi-Level Perspective framework in China. *Sustainable Computing: Informatics and Systems*, 27, 100396.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.suscom.2020.100396

- Secretaría Distrital de Movilidad de Bogotá. (2013). *Informe de indicadores. Encuesta de movilidad de Bogotá 2011*. Alcaldía Mayor de Bogotá (DC).
- Sun, C., Zheng, S., & Wang, R. (2014). Restricting driving for better traffic and clearer skies: Did it work in Beijing? *Transport Policy*, 32, 34–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tranpol.2013.12.010
- Tan, K. H., Chung, L., Shi, L., & Chiu, A. (2017). Unpacking the indirect effects and consequences of environmental regulation. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 186, 46–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2017.01.017

Viard, V. B., & Fu, S. (2015). The effect of Beijing's driving restrictions on pollution and economic activity. *Journal of Public Economics*, 125, 98–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2015.02.003

- Wang, L., Xu, J., & Qin, P. (2014). Will a driving restriction policy reduce car trips?—The case study of Beijing, China. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice*, 67, 279–290. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2014.07.014
- Wang, M., Liu, F., & Zheng, M. (2021). Air quality improvement from COVID-19 lockdown: Evidence from China. Air Quality, Atmosphere & Health, 14(4), 591–604. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11869-020-00963-y
- Wang, N., Tang, L., & Pan, H. (2017). Effectiveness of policy incentives on electric vehicle acceptance in China: A discrete choice analysis. *Transportation Research Part A: Policy* and Practice, 105, 210–218. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tra.2017.08.009
- Wang, X., Yang, H., Zhu, D., & Li, C. (2012). Tradable travel credits for congestion management with heterogeneous users. *Transportation Research Part E: Logistics and Transportation Review*, 48(2), 426–437. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tre.2011.10.007
- Xiao, C., Chang, M., Guo, P., Chen, Q., & Tian, X. (2019). Comparison of the cost-effectiveness of eliminating high-polluting old vehicles and imposing driving restrictions to reduce vehicle emissions in Beijing. *Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment*, 67, 291–302. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trd.2018.10.006
- Xie, X., Tou, X., & Zhang, L. (2017). Effect analysis of air pollution control in Beijing based on an odd-and-even license plate model. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 142, 936–945. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.09.117
- Xu, M., Grant-Muller, S., & Gao, Z. (2017). Implementation effects and integration evaluation of a selection of transport management measures in Beijing. *Case Studies on Transport Policy*, 5(4), 604–614. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cstp.2017.09.002

- Xu, Y., Zhang, Q., & Zheng, S. (2015). The rising demand for subway after private driving restriction: Evidence from Beijing's housing market. *Regional Science and Urban Economics*, 54, 28–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.regsciurbeco.2015.06.004
- Yang, J., Liu, Y., Qin, P., & Liu, A. A. (2014). A review of Beijing's vehicle registration lottery: Short-term effects on vehicle growth and fuel consumption. *Energy Policy*, 75, 157–166. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2014.05.055
- Yang, J., Lu, F., Liu, Y., & Guo, J. (2018). How does a driving restriction affect transportation patterns? The medium-run evidence from Beijing. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 204, 270–281. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2018.08.069
- Yang, J., Purevjav, A.-O., & Li, S. (2020). The Marginal Cost of Traffic Congestion and Road Pricing: Evidence from a Natural Experiment in Beijing. *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy*, 12(1), 418–453. https://doi.org/10.1257/pol.20170195
- Ye, J. (2017). Better safe than sorry? Evidence from Lanzhou's driving restriction policy. *China Economic Review*, 45, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chieco.2017.05.009
- Zhang, B., Chen, H., Du, Z., & Wang, Z. (2020). Does license plate rule induce low-carbon choices in residents' daily travels: Motivation and impacts. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 124, 109780. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.109780
- Zhang, L., Long, R., & Chen, H. (2019). Do car restriction policies effectively promote the development of public transport? World Development, 119, 100–110. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2019.03.007
- Zhang, M., Shan, C., Wang, W., Pang, J., & Guo, S. (2020). Do driving restrictions improve air quality: Take Beijing-Tianjin for example? *Science of The Total Environment*, 712, 136408. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.136408

- Zhang, W., Lin Lawell, C.-Y. C., & Umanskaya, V. I. (2017). The effects of license plate-based driving restrictions on air quality: Theory and empirical evidence. *Journal of Environmental Economics and Management*, 82, 181–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jeem.2016.12.002
- Zhong, N., Cao, J., & Wang, Y. (2017). Traffic Congestion, Ambient Air Pollution, and Health:
 Evidence from Driving Restrictions in Beijing. *Journal of the Association of Environmental and Resource Economists*, 4(3), 821–856. https://doi.org/10.1086/692115